RECEIVED

Jun 30 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2011-CP-32-01205

Appellate Case No. 2020-001580

First Reliance Bank,

Respondent,

v.

Charles E. Bishop, Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC d/b/a Dam Bar & Grill, B&H of
Lexington, LLC, and Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina, Defendants,

Of whom Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC d/b/a Dam Bar & Grill, and B&H of
Lexington, LLC are Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

G. Murrell Smith, Jr., SC Bar No. 66263
Shanon N. Peake, SC Bar No. 102723
Smith Robinson Holler DuBose

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the master-in-equity err in refusing to vacate the order affirming the appraisal panel return and the deficiency judgment where the master found the Receiver did not properly notify Appellants of their attorney's suspension from the practice of law and Appellants did not receive notice of the order or judgment and were not properly served with the order or judgment?

2. Did the circuit court err in denying Appellants' Rule 59(e) motion where the uncontroverted testimony before the master-in-equity was that the appraisers made a mistake in the valuation of the property?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS¹

Respondent First Reliance Bank (“Respondent”) initiated this foreclosure action on March 28, 2011, against Appellants Brett Blanks (“Blanks”), BCM of Lexington, LLC d/b/a Dam Bar & Grill (“BCM”), B&H of Lexington, LLC (“B&H” and collectively with Blanks and B&H, “Appellants”), and Defendants Charles E. Bishop (“Bishop”) and Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina. (Compl.; R. at 126–205). The case was referred to the Honorable James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity, on August 1, 2011. (Order of Ref.; R. at 1). The master-in-equity issued a judgment of foreclosure on January 11, 2012, finding the total debt owed to Plaintiff, including interest and attorney’s fees, was \$1,482,122.05. (Report and Judgement of Foreclosure and Sale; R. at 2–34). The property sold at a foreclosure sale on February 6, 2012. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 91). On April 3, 2012, the master-in-equity entered an order of deficiency judgment in the amount of \$632,121.09 against Appellants and Defendant Bishop, after subtracting the foreclosure sale price of \$913,483.60 from \$1,545,604.69, the total amount owed to Respondent as of the date of the foreclosure sale. (Order of Deficiency Judgment; R. at 35–40).

On April 3, 2012, Appellants and Defendant Bishop filed a Petition for Order of Appraisal pursuant to section 29-3-680 of the South Carolina Code. (Pet. for Order of Appraisal; R. at 223–24). The master-in-equity granted the Petition on December 4, 2012. (Dec. 4, 2012 Order; R. at 41–51). On January 22, 2013, the master-in-equity appointed Kevin McGee as the court-appointed appraiser, James Petty as the appraiser selected by Appellants and Defendant Bishop, and Philip Urso as the appraiser selected by Respondent. (Order Appointing Appraisers; R. at 52).

On February 21, 2013, the appraisers submitted a letter to the circuit court, finding the

¹ Appellant combines the statement of the case and statement of the facts to eliminate repetition due to considerable overlap between the procedural history and the facts in this case.

market value of the subject property as of March 7, 2012 was \$1,040,000.00 which the appraisers allocated as follows:

Front Land (2.357 acres):	\$200,000
Improvements:	\$715,000
F F & E:	\$100,000
Excess Back Land (1.753 acres):	\$25,000

(Ret. Of Appraisers; R. at 53–55). On March 15, 2013, Appellants and Defendant Bishop filed an appeal of the return of the appraisers. (Appeal of Ret. of Appraisers; R. at 248–55).

On December 31, 2013, counsel for Appellants and Defendant Bishop submitted a Consent Order to the Court relieving Gene Trotter as counsel for these defendants and ordering that George H. McMaster (“Mr. McMaster”) was the sole counsel of record for these defendants. (Cons. Order to be Relieved as Counsel; R. at 56–58).

The master-in-equity held a hearing on the appeal on April 10, 2014. (Apr. 10, 2015 Hrg. Tr. ; R. at 475–617). On June 18, 2014, the master-in-equity sent a letter to counsel for Respondent and Mr. McMaster requesting counsel for Respondent prepare a proposed order affirming the return of the appraisal panel within thirty days of the letter. (June 18, 2014 Ltr.; R. at 686–87). The master-in-equity indicated the letter was not a final order. (*Id.*; R. at 686).

On July 2, 2014, the Supreme Court of South Carolina issued an order placing Mr. McMaster on interim suspension until further notice.² (Ex. C to Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot; R. at 344). The Supreme Court appointed Peyre T. Lumpkin, Esquire (“Receiver”) as the receiver to “assume responsibility for [Mr. McMaster]’s client files, trust account(s), escrow account(s), operating account(s) and any of law office account(s) [Mr. McMaster] may maintain.” (*Id.*; R. at 344). The Supreme Court ordered Receiver to “take action as required by Rule 31, RLDE, Rule

² On November 27, 2019, the South Carolina Supreme Court granted Mr. McMaster’s motion to surrender his law license. (Ex. D to Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot.; R. at 346–57).

413, SCACR, to protect the interests of [Mr. McMaster]’s clients.” (*Id.*; R. at 344). On July 15, 2014, Mr. McMaster sent a letter to Plaintiff’s counsel advising him that he was placed on interim suspension. (July 15, 2014 Ltr.; R. at 688).

On July 16, 2014, Receiver mailed notice letters regarding Mr. McMaster’s suspension from the practice of law to Blanks and Bishop, addressed as follows: (1) Brett Blanks, 101 Old Orangeburg Road, Lexington, SC 29072³ and (2) Charlie Bishop, 101 Old Orangeburg Road, Lexington, SC 29072. (Ex. G to Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Motion; R. at 359–66). Both letters were marked “return to sender – not deliverable as addressed – unable to forward” on July 23, 2014. (*Id.*; R. at 362, 366). According to the date stamp of Receiver, his officed received the undeliverable letters back on July 28, 2014. (*Id.*; R. at 362, 366). There were no letters in Receiver’s file to BCM or B&H. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 100–01).

On July 31, 2014, Plaintiff’s counsel emailed the master-in-equity a letter enclosing a proposed order affirming the return of the appraisal panel and the letter he received from Mr. McMaster. (Ex. F to Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot.; R. at 351–57). Receiver responded via email on July 31, 2014, indicating he was in receipt of Plaintiff’s counsel’s proposed order and stated:

When we are appointed Receiver for a suspended attorney we do not assume representation of clients but merely take possession of client files to facilitate their return to clients or to new counsel. Consequently, I can neither object nor consent to any proposed order on behalf of any clients of Tompkins and McMaster.

In this particular matter, we gave Mr. McMaster’s client written notice of the suspension and his right to pick up his file by a notice letter mailed on July 16, 2014. However, as of today, he has not contacted us or arranged for his file to be sent to him. I will, however, place a copy of this correspondence in his file for his future reference.

³ Blanks had not resided at this address since August 12, 2011. (Blanks Aff.; Nov. 4 Order; R. at 103, 429–46).

(*Id.*; R. at 353). Receiver failed to inform the master-in-equity the two notice letters had been returned as undeliverable three days earlier. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 101).

On October 22, 2014, the master-in-equity emailed Plaintiff's Counsel and Receiver to check on the status of the case and inquire whether "Mr. McMaster's client has, pursuant to July 16, 2014 Notice letter, contacted [Receiver] or arranged to have file retrieved." (Oct. 22, 2014 Email; R. at 708). Receiver responded, "We still have the Bishop file in our possession. He has not responded to our notice letter." (*Id.*; R. at 708). Receiver again did not inform the master-in-equity the letters to Blanks and Bishop were returned as undeliverable and no notice letters were mailed to BCM or B&H. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 101). On October 23, 2014, the master-in-equity responded, "Unless advised otherwise, I will [sign the] proposed Order in the case since it has been over 60 days with no response." (Oct. 23, 2014 Email R. at 708). Receiver did not make any other attempts to contact Appellants or the master-in-equity. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 100–01). The master-in-equity entered the Order Affirming Appraisal Panel Return on October 27, 2014. (Order Aff. Appraisal Panel Ret.; R. at 61–82). Receiver received a copy of this Order addressed to Receiver on October 30, 2014, and a copy of this Order addressed to Mr. McMaster on November 6, 2014. (Ex. H to Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot.; R. at 390, 413).

The master-in-equity entered an Amended Order of Deficiency Judgment on Appraisal on November 26, 2014, and awarded a deficiency judgment against Blanks, Bishop, and BCM in the amount of \$508,104.69, which equaled the appraisal value of \$1,037,500 subtracted from the total debt of \$1,545,604.69. (Am. Deficiency Judgment; R. at 83–85). The Clerk of Court's Office mailed the Amended Deficiency Judgment to: (1) James Edward Bradley at P.O. Box 5709, West Columbia, SC 29171 and (2) George Hunter McMaster at P.O. Box 7337, Columbia, SC 29202.

(*Id.*; R. at 85). A copy of the Amended Deficiency Judgment was not found in Receiver's file. (Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot.; R. at 305).

On April 14, 2020, Plaintiff filed an Execution of Judgment against Blanks and Bishop which was returned Nulla Bona by the Lexington County Sheriff's Office on April 24, 2020. (Execution & Nulla Bona; R. at 282). On April 30, 2020, Michael H. Wells and Russell W. Fry filed electronic notices of appearance on behalf of Blanks. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 94). The Deputy Clerk of Court entered a Transcript of Judgment on April 30, 2020, giving notice of the judgment entered on November 26, 2014, and that interest would accrue at a rate of 12% from March 28, 2012. (Tr. Of Judgment; R. at 285). Bishop filed an appeal of the November 26, 2014 Amended Order of Deficiency Judgment on Appraisal on June 10, 2020. *See* Appellate Case No. 2020-000872. On June 15, 2020, Plaintiff filed a petition for supplemental proceedings. (Pet. for Supp. Proceedings; R. at 293–301).

On June 26, 2020, G. Murrell Smith, Jr., and Shanon N. Peake filed notices of appearance on behalf of Appellants. *See* June 26, 2020 Notice of Appearance, *First Reliance Bank v. Charles E. Bishop, et al.*, 2011-CP-32-01205. The master-in-equity held a status conference on June 26, 2020. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 94). At the status conference, counsel for Appellants informed the master-in-equity they were attempting to obtain the original file of Mr. McMaster and Receiver's file from Receiver and they anticipated filing a motion challenging the October 27, 2014 Order affirming the appraisal panel and November 26, 2014 Amended Deficiency Judgment. (*Id.*; R. at 94). Appellants' counsel obtained the file from Receiver on June 29, 2020. (*Id.*; R. at 94).

On July 9, 2020, Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amended pursuant to Rule 59(e),

SCRCP, and/or Motion to Vacate pursuant to Rule 60(b), SCRCP.⁴ (Rule 59(e) and 60(b) Mot.; R. at 302–428). In the motions, Appellants argued their procedural due process rights were violated because they were not given notice of their attorney’s suspension from the practice of law and were not served with copies of the master-in-equity’s Order Affirming Appraisal Panel Return and the Amended Deficiency Judgment. (*Id.*; R. at 307–17). Because of these due process violations, Appellants argued Rule 60(b)(4) required the master-in-equity to vacate these orders. (*Id.*; R. at 313–17). Appellants further requested the master-in-equity reconsider the Order Affirming Appraisal Panel Return, arguing the only testimony before the master-in-equity showed the appraisers made a mistake in valuing the property. (*Id.*; R. at 310–13).

The master-in-equity held a hearing on Appellants’ motions on September 9, 2020. Prior to the hearing, James Bradley, counsel for Respondent, submitted an affidavit showing his office mailed the Order Affirming Appraisal Panel Return to Blanks at 137 Belle Chase Drive, Lexington, SC 29072 on November 6, 2014. (Bradley Aff.; R. at 447–54). Appellants submitted the affidavit of Blanks along with property deeds showing Blanks and his wife sold the Belle Chase property in August 2011 and did not reside or receive mail at that address after that date. (Blanks Aff.; R. at 429–46).

On November 4, 2020, the master-in-equity issued an Order denying Appellants’ Rule 59(e) motion and Rule 60(b) motion. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 89–122). In considering Appellants’ Rule 60(b) motion, the master-in-equity found the Receiver did not comply with his duties under Rule 31, RLDE, in notifying Appellants of McMaster’s suspension. (Nov. 4 Or. at 12–14; R. at 100–02). The master-in-equity further found Blanks did not receive the Order Affirming Appraisal

⁴ Bishop originally joined in Appellants’ motions; however, Bishop withdrew his participation in the motion prior to the hearing due to his pending appeal. (Nov. 4 Order; R. at 9).

Panel Return which was mailed by Plaintiff’s counsel because he did not reside at that address. (Nov. 4 Or. at 15; R. at 103). However, the master-in-equity found Appellants were at fault and in the “best position to avoid this situation.” (Nov. 4 Or. at 17; R. at 105). Despite being “extremely concerned” with Appellants’ attorney’s suspension, Receiver’s subsequent actions, and the lack of notice, the master-in-equity found that the “proper due process remedy” was to entertain Appellants’ Rule 59(e) motion so that Respondent and Appellants would be placed “in the same position they would have been in had [Appellants] received” notice. (Nov. 4 Or. 19, 22; R. at 107, 110). The master-in-equity then considered and denied Appellants’ Rule 59(e) motion of the Order Affirming the Appraisal Panel Return. (Nov. 4 Or. at 22–33; R. at 110–11).

Appellants filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend related to the November 4, 2020 Order on November 13, 2020.⁵ (Rule 59(e) Motion; R. at 455–63). Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal from the November 4, 2020 Order on December 1, 2020. (Notice of Appeal; R. at 711–51).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to Rule 59(e), a party may move to alter, amend, or seek reconsideration of a judgment or order. *See Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 21, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004). A motion pursuant to Rule 59(e) “shall be served not later than 10 days after *receipt of written notice of the entry of the order.*” Rule 59(e), SCRCF (emphasis added). The decision of whether to grant or deny a Rule 59(e) motion lies within the sound discretion of the trial court. *Pollard v. City of Florence*, 314 S.C. 397, 402, 444 S.E.2d 534, 536 (Ct. App. 1994). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the judgment is controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal[,] conclusions[] is without evidentiary support.” *Regions*

⁵ This motion is currently pending before the master-in-equity.

Bank v. Owens, 402 S.C. 642, 647, 741 S.E.2d 51, 54 (Ct. App. 2013). Further, as this is a matter in equity, this Court “may make findings of fact in accordance with [its] own view of the evidence.” *S.C. Nat. Bank v. Cent. Carolina Livestock Mkt., Inc.*, 289 S.C. 309, 314–15, 345 S.E.2d 485, 489 (1986).

Pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, a party may move the Court for an order relieving them from a “final judgment, order, or proceeding” due to:

- (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect;
- (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b);
- (3) fraud, misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party;
- (4) the judgment is void; [or]
- (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application.

Rule 60(b), SCRPC. A judgment may be set aside more than one year after its entry pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4). *Thomas & Howard Co. v. T.W. Graham and Co.*, 318 S.C. 286, 291, 457 S.E.2d 340, 343 (1995). “Whether to grant or deny a motion under Rule 60(b) lies within the sound discretion of the judge.” *BB&T v. Taylor*, 369 S.C. 548, 551, 633 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2006). “A void judgment is one that, from its inception, is a complete nullity and is without legal effect.” *Id.* “The definition of ‘void’ under the rule only encompasses judgments from courts which failed to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 324 S.C. 639, 644, 478 S.E.2d 868, 871 (Ct. App. 1996).

“Procedural due process imposes constraints on governmental decisions which deprive individuals of liberty or property interests within the meaning of the Due Process Clause of the

Fifth or Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 171, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008). “It is fundamental that no judgment or order affecting the rights of a party to the cause shall be made or rendered without notice to the party whose rights are to be affected.” *Universal Benefits, Inc. v. McKinney*, 349 S.C. 179, 183, 561 S.E.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *Tryon Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Phelps*, 307 S.C. 361, 362, 415 S.E.2d 397, 398 (1992)). “The requirements of due process not only include notice, but also include an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. The master-in-equity erred in refusing to vacate the order and judgment after finding the Receiver failed to properly notify Appellants of their attorney’s suspension from the practice of law and Appellants did not receive copies of the order and judgment and were not served with the order and judgment.

The Court should reverse the master-in-equity and vacate the October 27, 2014 Order Affirming the Appraisal Panel Return and the November 26, 2014 Amended Deficiency Judgment as void pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) because these orders failed to provide proper procedural due process to Appellants. Despite finding Appellants did not receive notice of entry of these orders until almost six years after the entry of the orders and finding Receiver failed to properly notify Appellants of their attorney’s suspension from law, the master-in-equity refused to vacate the void orders because it found “the proper due process remedy” was to allow Appellants to argue their Rule 59(e) Motion.⁶ (Nov. 4 Order at 12–16, 18, 22; R. at 100–04, 106, 110). However, there is no remedy for a due process violation. An order issued without proper due process is void. The

⁶ As discussed further herein, although the master-in-equity found Appellants’ Rule 59(e) motion was timely, Appellants were not afforded appropriate due process because they were at a severe disadvantage in not being served with the order and judgment affecting their rights and not knowing of this order and judgment until almost six years later.

master-in-equity erred in attempting to retroactively remedy the due process violations that occurred here in order to uphold these void orders.

“The definition of ‘void’ under [Rule 60(b)(4)] only encompasses judgments from courts which failed to provide proper due process, or judgments from courts which lacked subject matter jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction.” *McDaniel*, 324 S.C. at 644, 478 S.E.2d at 871. It is fundamental to procedural due process “that no judgment or order affecting the rights of a party to the cause shall be made or rendered without notice to the party whose rights are to be affected.” *Universal Benefits, Inc.*, 349 S.C. at 183, 561 S.E.2d at 661 (quoting *Tryon Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n*, 307 S.C. at 362, 415 S.E.2d at 398). “The requirements of due process not only include notice, but also include an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Id.* “A person against whom a judgment or order is taken without notice may rightly ignore it and may assume that no court will enforce it against his person or property.” *Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Hyatt*, 290 S.C. 159, 162, 348 S.E.2d 532, 535 (Ct. App. 1986).

It is clear Appellants did not have notice of the order and judgment affecting their rights, an opportunity to be meaningfully heard related to this order and judgment, or necessary judicial review of the order and judgment after July 2, 2014, due to Mr. McMaster’s suspension from the practice of law.

A. Receiver failed to notify Appellants of their attorney’s suspension

Despite knowing of the impending deficiency judgment and the need for Appellants to act with haste to obtain new counsel and protect their rights, Receiver failed to notify Appellants of Mr. McMaster’s suspension from the practice of law. The South Carolina Supreme Court appointed Receiver to take possession of Mr. McMaster’s files, ensure each of Mr. McMaster’s

clients were timely notified of his suspension, and take other actions required by Rule 31. Pursuant to Rule 31,

The receiver *shall*:

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