RECEIVED

Jun 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

James O. Spence, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2020-001580

First Reliance Bank,..... Respondent,

v.

Charles E. Bishop, Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC,
d/b/a Dam Bar & Grill, B&H of Lexington, LLC, and
Branch Banking and Trust Company of South Carolina, Defendants,

of Whom Brett D. Blanks, BCM of Lexington, LLC
d/b/a Dam Bar & Grill and B&H of Lexington, LLC are..... Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

James Edward Bradley SC Bar # 66130
Moore Taylor Law Firm, P.A.
P.O. Box 5709
West Columbia, SC 29171
(803) 796-9160

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

ARGUMENTS

I. APPELLANTS ARE BARRED FROM BRINGING THIS APPEAL BECAUSE THEY WAITED OVER FIVE YEARS FROM THE DATE OF THE ORDER AFFIRMING THE APPRAISAL TO FILE THEIR 59(e) MOTION

A 59(e) motion must be filed within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of the entry of an order. SCRPC 59(e). Rule 6(e) states that whenever a party has a right to act within a proscribed time after service of a notice, five days shall be added to proscribed time if the service is made by mail. Notice of an order is required to be sent by first-class mail to a party’s last known address or to the party’s attorney. SCRPC 5(b)(1). The Order Affirming the Appraisal was entered on October 27, 2014. (R. pp. 61-82). Mr. Bradley sent a copy of the order to the receiver Mr. Lumpkin, the suspended attorney George McMaster, and the Defendant Mr. Blanks. The order was sent to Mr. Blanks at his last known address. Mr. Blanks testified in his deposition that he resided at 137 Bell Chase Drive, Lexington, SC 29072. (R. p. 464, ll. 16-18). Mr. Bradley also asked the United States Postal Service if Mr. Blanks received mail at the Bell Chase Drive address. The Postal Service responded that he did. (R. p. 453). Mr. Blanks provided no other addresses.

Mr. Bradley's office served Mr. Blanks with the order by placing the order in the mail with proper postage on October 29, 2014. Therefore, Appellants had until November 13, 2014, to file their 59(e) motion challenging Judge Spence's Order. Appellants did not file their 59(e) motion by November 13, 2014. Instead, Appellants filed a 59(e) motion on July 9, 2020, nearly six years after the order was served upon them. Therefore, the 59(e) motion was untimely filed, and this Court should not hear the appeal.

II. APPELLANTS ARE BARRED FROM BRINGING THIS APPEAL BECAUSE THEY WAITED OVER 5 YEARS TO FILE THEIR 60(b)(4) MOTION

A motion pursuant to Rule 60(b)(4) must be brought within a reasonable time. *See McDaniel v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 324 S.C. 639, 644, 478 S.E.2d 868, 870 (Ct. App. 1996). This Court has found that a 60(b)(4) motion filed nearly four years after an order was untimely. *Id.* Here, Judge Spence issued his order denying the Appellants' appeal of the appraisal on October 27, 2014. (R. pp. 61-82). Appellants waited until July 9, 2020, nearly six years after the above-mentioned order was issued, to file their 60(b)(4) motion. This is essentially two years longer than the time period that this Court found unreasonable in the *McDaniel* case. Therefore, this Court should find that Appellants are barred from bringing this appeal because they waited an unreasonable time to file their 60(b)(4) motion.

III. JUDGE SPENCE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY UPHOLDING THE DEFICIENCY JUDGMENT WHEN THE APPELLANTS PARTICIPATED IN THE LAWSUIT AND JUDGE SPENCE HEARD THEIR 59(e) MOTION

The Court should affirm Judge Spence's decision to uphold the October 27, 2014, Order Affirming the Appraisal and the November 26, 2014, Amended Deficiency Judgment because Judge Spence's decision to deny Appellants' motions was not controlled by an error of law or any factual conclusion without evidentiary support.

Appellants argue the order affirming the appraisal and the judgment is void because they had no notice the Order was entered. However, Appellants were properly served with the Order and Judgment, they participated in the entire litigation process, they had a meaningful opportunity to be heard, and Judge Spence heard the Appellants' 59(e) motion nearly six years after the Order was issued.

Appellants argue they are entitled to have the Order Affirming the Appraisal declared void because they did not receive notice of it. Rule 5(b)(1) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure states that service of orders shall be effected by "delivering a copy to him or by mailing it to him at his last known address." The rule also allows and encourages attorneys to simply mail the order to the attorney instead of mailing it to the party. *Id.*

Mr. Bradley complied with Rule 5(b)(1) because he mailed copies of the Order Affirming the Appraisal to Mr. Blanks at his last known address, which was 137 Bell Chase Drive, Lexington, SC 29072. (R. pp. 447-454). Mr. Bradley has multiple reasons to believe 137 Bell Chase Drive was the correct address for Mr. Blanks. Mr. Blanks testified in a deposition that his address was 137 Bell Chase Drive. (R. p. 451, ll. 16-18). Mr. Bradley also asked the United States Postal Service if Mr. Blanks received mail at that address and was told that he did. (R. p. 453). Mr. Bradley also mailed a copy of the order to the last known attorney and the current receiver for all Appellants. Therefore, Mr. Bradley correctly served the order upon Mr. Blanks by mailing it to him at his last known address.

Appellants' argument that BCM of Lexington LLC and B&H of Lexington, LLC were not correctly served with the order is also without merit. BCM of Lexington LLC and B&H of Lexington, LLC are single-purpose business entities that were created simply for the operation and control of the restaurant that the loans financed, and they were controlled by Appellant Blanks. (R.

pp. 237-238). Appellant Blanks and the above-mentioned entities were all represented by the same attorney and there was no separation between Appellant Blanks and those entities. Furthermore, Rule 5(b)(1) allows service of an order upon a party's attorney in place of service upon the individual party. Mr. Bradley served the receiver in place for the attorney. Therefore, service of the order on the receiver achieved service of the order upon those entities.

Appellants cite *McCall v. Ikon*, 363 S.C. 646, 611 S.E.2d 315, 319 (Ct. App. 2005) for the proposition that every party must be individually served with an order or judgment. The facts in *McCall* are distinct from the facts of this case. In *McCall*, two completely unrelated and separate companies, Ikon and CESC, were served with notice of a hearing to assess unliquidated damages following a default judgment. The notice was sent by first-class mail to only one of the entities. The Court held that service of the hearing notice was improper because the entities were entitled to individual notice.

Here, unlike in *McCall*, there was no hearing, the corporate entities were not separate and distinct from the individual who was served notice at his home, and the receiver for the individual and the corporate entities' lawyer was served with the order.

Therefore, the Court should find Appellants were properly served with the Order Affirming the Appraisal and the judgment.

IV. ANY FAILURE OF THE RECEIVER TO CONTACT APPELLANTS WAS CURED WHEN THE COURT ALLOWED THE APPELLANTS TO FILE A 59(E) MOTION.

Appellants argue the judgment is void because they believe the Receiver, Peyre T. Lumpkin, failed to follow the Rule 31 requirements for a receiver. Appellants argue the Receiver sent notice letters to an old address, failed to properly give notice of Mr. McMaster's suspension by publication, and did not intervene by filing an appeal or a 59(e) motion. Even if all of Appellants' arguments regarding the Receiver are true, this argument is a red herring. The

Appellants participated in the entirety of the litigation from the time of the foreclosure through the appeal of the appraisal. Mr. McMaster was suspended from the practice of law approximately three months after the hearing on the appeal of the appraisal, but before Judge Spence filed his order. The Appellants were represented for the entirety of the matter. Finally, any prejudice the Appellants faced by the failure of the Receiver was cured when the Court agreed to hear the Appellants' 59(e) motion.

Due process requires that a party have notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. *Grannis v. Ordean*, 234 U.S. 385, 394, 34 S.Ct. 779, 58 L.Ed. 1363 (1914). Here, the Appellants had notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review. In fact, the Appellants participated in all portions of the foreclosure and appraisal process. They hired an attorney who appeared in the foreclosure and appraisal action. They then fired that attorney and retained Mr. McMaster, who appeared in the appeal of the appraisal. At all times, Appellants were aware that they were a party to the action and that Judge Spence would make a decision that would affect their rights.

They appeared and contested the foreclosure. They demanded and received an appraisal. They contested the appraisal and received an evidentiary hearing. They received reconsideration of the appraisers' decision. And, they have now received an appeal.

The Appellants rely on *Insurance Company of North America v. Hyatt*, 290 S.C. 159, 162, 348 S.E.2d 532, 535 (Ct. App. 1986), to argue that the failure to receive the Order allows them to ignore the proceedings in which they participated, have the Order vacated, and appeal an Order that was entered more than five years ago. The facts in *Hyatt* are distinct from the facts in this case. In *Hyatt*, an employee's estate filed a workers compensation claim for death benefits. Hyatt was the employee's employer at the time of his death. The employee's estate served Hyatt with notice

of a hearing before a single commissioner, at which Hyatt appeared. The matter was then heard by the full Commission and then by the Circuit Court. However, Hyatt never appeared or participated in either of these hearings. Hyatt alleged it never received notice of the single commissioner's award or any of the later proceedings.

Here, unlike in *Hyatt*, the Appellants participated in all portions of the foreclosure and appraisal process. They hired an attorney who appeared in the foreclosure and appraisal action; they then fired that attorney and retained Mr. McMaster, who appeared in the appeal of the appraisal. Additionally, Mr. Bradley sent notice of the Order to the Appellants at the same address where they were originally served, to Mr. McMaster, and to the judicially appointed receiver. At all times, the Appellants were aware they were a party to an action and that Judge Spence would make a decision that would impact their rights. But, the Appellants took no affirmative steps to stay abreast of Judge Spence's decision and now wish to have the Order vacated because they are unhappy with the result.

Judge Spence determined the careful and fair course of action was to put the Appellants in the same position they would have been in had they originally responded to the Order and Judgment. That position was to hear a Rule 59(e) motion. Judge Spence heard the motion and denied it.

The Appellants have argued Judge Spence's decision to hear the 59(e) motion did not place them in the same position they would have been in because once their new attorneys became aware of the issue, they had limited time to file the 59(e) motion and become familiar with the file, whereas if the Appellants had immediate notice they would have been able to request an extension while the Appellants looked for new counsel. The Appellants have now hired counsel and filed an

59(e) motion which adequately protected their right to judicial review. Thus, they have suffered no prejudice.

Judge Spence did not abuse his discretion by denying Appellants' 59(e) and 60(b)(4) motions. The correct remedy was to restore Appellants to the position they would have been in had they received immediate notice of the Order Affirming the Appraisal. This was to allow them to file a 59(e) motion five years after the entry of the Order Affirming the Appraisal. They received the remedy to which they were entitled.

V. JUDGE SPENCE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING APPELLANTS' RULE 59(E) MOTION.

a. The Board of Appraisers Considered All the Factors Required by S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720.

South Carolina Code Section § 29-3-720 sets forth the appraisal process. This section requires the appraisal board to consider: (1) sale value; (2) cost and replacement value of improvements; and (3) income production. *Id.*; *See Peoples Federal Sav. and Loan As'n v. Myrtle Beach Retirement Group, Inc.*, 302 S.C. 223, 394 S.E.2d 849 (Ct. App. 1990). The appraisers acted in accordance with the statute because they identified and examined each of the considerations required under the statute.

The appraiser's report specifically sets forth the property's market value and states that it was performed in accordance with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice (USPAP). (R. pp. 246-247). In addition, Mr. Petty, the appraiser for the Appellants, testified the board of appraisers considered sales value when determining the valuation of the property. (R. p. 494). Mr. Petty agreed to the value and signed the report.

Next, the appraisal report sets forth the cost and replacement value of improvements, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720. The report states the value as follows:

Front Land (2.357):	\$200,000.00
Improvements:	\$715,000.00
FF&E:	\$100,000.00
Excess Back Land (1.753 Acres)	\$ 25,000.00

The above appraisal for the cost and replacement value of improvements has not been challenged. Mr. Petty testified that the board of appraisers considered the value of improvements in determining the property's true value. (R. p. 7, ll. 3-19).

Finally, the board of appraisers considered the property's potential income production. Mr. Petty's notes show that the panel considered income production. (R. p. 559). Exhibit 3 reads:

Income- \$1,200,000.00
 @ 8% occupancy = \$ 96,000.00
 Cap Rate 9% = \$1,066,000.00

Mr. Petty testified these notes documented "the conclusion we came up with in our meeting." (R. p. 488, ll. 23-25). Mr. Petty also testified the notes show what "I considered when I came up with my value." (R. p. 493, ll. 3-6).

Therefore, the board of appraisers considered sale value, cost and replacement value of improvements, and income production, as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-720.

b. An Alleged Mistake by a Single Member of the Appraisal Panel Was Not Enough to Overturn the Opinion of the Majority of the Panel.

A mistake is grounds to reform a legal document only if it is a mutual mistake, and the complaining party shows this by clear and convincing evidence.

Before equity will reform an instrument, it must be shown by evidence which is most clear and convincing not simply that it was a mistake on the part of one of the parties but that it was a mutual mistake. *Belin v. Strikeleather*, 232 S.C. 116, 101 S.E.2d 185 (1957). A mutual mistake is one where both parties intended

a certain thing and by mistake in the drafting did not get what both parties intended.

Sims v. Tyler, 276 S.C. 640, 642, 281 S.E.2d 229, 230 (1981). Appellants' appraiser, Mr. Petty, testified he made a mistake regarding the acreage being appraised; therefore, Appellants believe Judge Spence should have ordered a new appraisal. (R. p. 507, l. 3 – p. 508, l. 19). This is despite the fact the appraisal report that Mr. Petty signed included the actual acreage as 4.11 acres, which is the correct acreage. Mr. Petty testified that he did not pay attention to the report he signed; therefore, the Court should have ordered a new appraisal. (R. p. 507, l. 3 – p. 508, l. 19). The exact testimony follows:

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